(i)

LONDON

Health and Social Care Scrutiny
Sub-Committee Virtual Meeting

DATE: Wednesday 24 June 2020
TIME: 6.00 pm
VENUE: Virtual Meeting - Online

MEMBERSHIP  (Quorum 3)

Chair: Councillor Rekha Shah
Councillors:

Michael Borio Dr Lesline Lewinson
Natasha Proctor Vina Mithani

Reserve Members:

1. Niraj Dattani 1. Chetna Halai
2. Dan Anderson 2. Chris Mote
3. Chloe Smith

Advisers:

Julian Maw Healthwatch Harrow

Dr N Merali Harrow Local Medical Committee

Contact: Daksha Ghelani, Senior Democratic Services Officer
Tel: 020 8424 1881 E-mail: daksha.ghelani@harrow.gov.uk



Useful Information

Meeting details:
This meeting is open to the press and public and can be viewed on

www.harrow.qgov.uk/virtualmeeting

Filming / recording of meetings

Please note that proceedings at this meeting may be recorded or filmed. If you choose to
attend, you will be deemed to have consented to being recorded and/or filmed.

The recording will be made available on the Council website following the meeting.

Agenda publication date: Tuesday 16 June 2020

Health and Social Care Scrutiny Sub-Committee - 24 June 2020


http://www.harrow.gov.uk/virtualmeeting

AGENDA - PART |

1. NOTIFICATION OF A REPLACEMENT OF A COUNCILLOR ON THE SUB-
COMMITTEE

In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 1.5, the Sub-Committee is required to
note the replacement of Councillor Chris Mote by Councillor Dr Lesline Lewinson as
the main Member of the Health and Social Care Scrutiny Sub-Committee. To also
note that Councillor Chris Mote would occupy the position of 2" Reserve.

2. ATTENDANCE BY RESERVE MEMBERS
To note the attendance at this meeting of any duly appointed Reserve Members.
Reserve Members may attend meetings:-

0] to take the place of an ordinary Member for whom they are a reserve;

(i) where the ordinary Member will be absent for the whole of the meeting; and

(i)  the meeting notes at the start of the meeting at the item ‘Reserves’ that the
Reserve Member is or will be attending as a reserve;

(iv)  if a Reserve Member whose intention to attend has been noted arrives after
the commencement of the meeting, then that Reserve Member can only act
as a Member from the start of the next item of business on the agenda after
his/her arrival.

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

To receive declarations of disclosable pecuniary or non pecuniary interests, arising
from business to be transacted at this meeting, from:

(@) all Members of the Sub-Committee;
(b)  all other Members present.

4.  MINUTES (Pages5 - 14)

That the minutes of the meeting held on 3 March 2020 be taken as read and signed
as a correct record.

5. APPOINTMENT OF VICE-CHAIR
To appoint a Vice-Chair of the Sub-Committee for the 2020/2021 Municipal Year.

6. APPOINTMENT OF (NON-VOTING) ADVISERS TO THE SUB-COMMITTEE
2020/21 (Pages 15 - 18)

Report of the Director of Legal and Governance.

Health and Social Care Scrutiny Sub-Committee - 24 June 2020 3



10.

11.

Health and Social Care Scrutiny Sub-Committee - 24 June 2020

PUBLIC QUESTIONS *

To receive any public questions received in accordance with Committee Procedure
Rule 17 (Part 4B of the Constitution).

Questions will be asked in the order in which they were received. There will be a
time limit of 15 minutes for the asking and answering of public questions.

[The deadline for receipt of public questions is 3.00 pm, 19 June 2020.
Questions should be sent to publicquestions@harrow.gov.uk

No person may submit more than one question].
PETITIONS

To receive petitions (if any) submitted by members of the public/Councillors under
the provisions of Committee Procedure Rule 15 (Part 4B of the Constitution).

REFERENCES FROM COUNCIL AND OTHER COMMITTEES/PANELS
To receive any references from Council and/or other Committees or Panels.

COVID 19 - RECOVERY PLAN FOR THE HARROW , HEALTH AND CARE
PARTNERSHIP (Pages 19 - 58)

Report of the North West London Health and Care Partnership - Harrow Out of
Hospital Recovery Plan.

ANY OTHER BUSINESS

Which cannot otherwise be dealt with.

AGENDA - PART II - Nil

*DATA PROTECTION ACT NOTICE
The Council will audio record item 4 (Public Questions) and will place the audio recording on the
Council’'s website, which will be accessible to all.

[Note: The questions and answers will not be reproduced in the minutes.]


mailto:publicquestions@harrow.gov.uk

Aaenda Item 4

C’%;nges 5to 14

LONDON

HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE
SCRUTINY SUB-COMMITTEE

3 MARCH 2020

Chair: * Councillor Mrs Rekha Shah
Councillors: *  Michael Borio
* Vina Mithani
Advisers: T Julian Maw
* Dr N Merali
In attendance: Richard Almond
(Councillors) Dr Lesline Lewinson
Kairul Kareema Marikar
Janet Mote

Christine Robson

*  Denotes Member present
T Denotes apologies received

59. Attendance by Reserve Members

*  Chris Mote
* Natasha Proctor

- Healthwatch Harrow
- Harrow Local Medical
Committee

Minute 65
Minute 65
Minute 65
Minute 65
Minute 65

RESOLVED: To note that there were no Reserve Members in attendance.

60. Declarations of Interest

RESOLVED: To note that the following interests were declared:

Agenda ltem 7 — Update on GP Access Centres in the Borough

During consideration of this item, the following Councillors declared interests:

Health and Social Care Scrutiny Sub-Committee - 3 March 205

-51 -



61.

62.

63.

64.

-52 -

Councillor Vina Mithani, a member of the Sub-Committee, declared a non-
pecuniary interest in that she was a patient at the Belmont Health Centre.
She would remain in the room whilst the matter was considered and voted
upon.

Councillor Chris Mote, a member of the Sub-Committee, declared a non-
pecuniary interest in that he was a patient at the Pinn Medical Centre. He
would remain in the room whilst the matter was considered and voted upon.

Councillor John Hinkley, who was not a member of the Sub-Committee,
declared a non pecuniary interest in that he was a patient at the Pinn Medical
Centre. He would remain in the room to listen to the discussion on this item.

Councillor Jean Lammiman, who was not a member of the Sub-Committee,
declared a non pecuniary interest in that she was a patient at the Pinn
Medical Centre. She would remain in the room to listen to the discussion on
this item.

Councillor Kairul Karima Marikar, who was not a member of the Sub-
Committee, declared a non pecuniary interest in that she worked for the
Hertfordshire Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust. She would
remain in the room to ask question(s) and listen to the discussion on this item.

Councillor Janet Mote, who was not a member of the Sub-Committee,
declared a non pecuniary interest in that she was a patient at the Pinn
Medical Centre. She would remain in the room to ask questions(s) and listen
to the discussion on this item.

Adgenda ltem 8 — Consultation on Draft Harrow Health and Wellbeing Strateqy

Councillor Vina Mithani, a member of the Sub-Committee, declared a non-
pecuniary interest in that in that she worked for Public Health England. She
would remain in the room whilst the matter was considered and voted upon.
Minutes

RESOLVED: That the minutes of the meeting held on 21 January 2020 be
taken as read and signed as a correct record.

Public Questions

RESOLVED: To note that no public questions were received.
Petitions

RESOLVED: To note that no petitions had been received.
References from Council and Other Committees/Panels

None received.

6 Health and Social Care Scrutiny Sub-Committee - 3 March 2020



65.

Health and Social Care Scrutiny Sub-Committee - 3 March 207

RESOLVED ITEMS
Update on GP Access Centres in the Borough

The Sub-Committee received a verbal report on the Pinn Medical Centre from
representatives of Harrow CCG (Clinical Commissioning Group) present at
the meeting. Members were informed that:

- the direction of travel for all health services was set by NHS England
and in order to adhere to the guidance, the CCG had changed two of
the three Walk-In Centres in Harrow to GP Access Centres. The
Alexandra Avenue Health and Social Care Centre had changed in
November 2018 and the Belmont Health Centre in November 2019;

- the CCG had recently decided to retain the Walk-In Services at the
Pinn Medical Centre. The decision had been based on the volume of
representations received.

Prior to the consideration of the report, in accordance with Committee
Procedure Rule 4.1 of the Council’s Constitution, Members had agreed that
Councillors who were not members of the Sub-Committee be allowed to
address the meeting in respect of this item. A number of Councillors had
indicated their wish to speak on this item. The Chair initially invited Members
of the Sub-Committee to ask questions.

Q1 — How would the Pinn Medical Centre be funded? Would the money
that would have been saved as a result of changing the Centre to a GP
Access Centre been distributed amongst Harrow GP Practices?

A representative of the CCG stated that there were two elements to the
funding. Funding was available for patients registered with the Pinn Medical
Centre and a separate element available for those not registered with this
Centre. The Walk-In services would be available to all, including non-Harrow
residents. Central to the proposals for change to GP Access Centres was to
give local residents better access to services and provide continuity of care. It
was not intended to be a money saving exercise.

Q2 - Would the Walk-In Service at the Pinn Medical Centre remain open
indefinitely or for a fixed period?

A representative of the CCG replied that discussions between the CCG and
the Pinn Medical Centre had not yet concluded, including how the services
would be reviewed. To ensure flexibility, the CCG was working to a 5-year
plan but it was recognised that the situation might alter due to changes in
legislation and government plans.

Q3 — What had changed between the decisions made in 2018/19 and the
recent decision in respect of the Pinn Medical Centre?

A representative of the CCG explained that representations received from and
in relation to the Pinn Medical Centre, by way of patient engagement, had

-B53-



-54 -

resulted in the decision to retain the premises as a Walk-In Centre. The
changes to Alexandra and Belmont had been achieved through collaboration.

Q3 — Did the maintaining of Walk-In services in one part of the borough
yet removing them from other parts mean a postcode lottery in local
healthcare?

A representative of the CCG stated that it was too early to provide a response
to this question. It was important to recognise that all patients in Harrow and
elsewhere would have access to the various Walk-In Centres such as the
Pinn, one at Edgware and the Urgent Care Centre at Northwick Park Hospital.
Anyone from Harrow - whether or not they were registered with a GP - could
access all three Centres.

Q4 — How easy was it to register with a Harrow GP or change to
another?

A representative of the CCG replied that all GP practices were open to see
new patients. Patients could complete their applications online. They could
also switch to another GP and the facility was available online. Online
applications provided a quicker way of achieving a change.

Q5 - It was not always possible to book an appointment at Walk-In
Centres. As a result, patients attended the Urgent Care Centre at
Northwick Park Hospital. What impact was this having on patients who
then resorted to the A&E?

In response, representatives of the CCG stated that:

- when feeling unwell, patients should always contact their GP as this
was considered to be a ‘gold standard’ service. Some 40,000
appointments were available at the two GP Access Centres in Harrow.
Flexibility was built-in at Walk-In Centres, which provided a mixture of
appointments;

- patients should always try their GP first prior to resorting to the Urgent
Care Centre or the A&E;

- the GP Practices worked as a team and there was a skill mix available
at most Practices, such as a doctor, pharmacist and nurse. The
diversity within the team allowed patients to access various services
within a single unit.

Q6 — Equalities Impact Assessments (EqlAs)had been completed for
Alexandra Avenue and Belmont — was an EQIA completed for the Pinn
Medical Centre to help inform decisions?

In response to the Chair's question, a representative of the CCG informed
Members that an EqIA in respect of the Pinn Medical Centre had been
initiated but was not completed due to the recent decision to retain the Centre
as a Walk-In facility.

8 Health and Social Care Scrutiny Sub-Committee - 3 March 2020



Health and Social Care Scrutiny Sub-Committee - 3 March 209

Q7 — How could Councillors help to explain messages to residents
about the changes, especially regarding better access and improved
outcomes?

A representative of the CCG explained that where patients were not sure how
to access medical services, they could telephone the NHS 111 Service who
would guide them and provide advice on how to navigate the various services.
The NHS 111 Service would support decision-making and help redirect
patients to the most appropriate service.

Additionally, the representative explained the role of patient ‘champions’ who
would help with various questions such as registering with a GP.

The Chair then invited Councillors who were not members of the Sub-
Committee to ask questions of the representatives of Harrow CCG. During
guestioning, some Councillors also related personal experiences when
accessing GPs.

In response to the questions about funding, charging, GP catchment areas,
making appointments through the NHS 111 Service, representatives of the
CCG stated that:

- all CCGs charged for the services provided to patients from different
areas. The CCGs would prefer patients to access their own GPs but
would not stop them from accessing Walk-In Centres. In respect of the
Pinn Medical Centre, it had become apparent that, in order to maintain
the dynamics, it was essential to retain it as a Walk-In Centre instead
of a GP Access Centre;

- patients could change their GP if they were not satisfied with the
service provided. It would not always be possible to make a same day
appointment due to pressures and booking in advance might not help
as it would not necessarily allow you to see a GP on the day your
require their service;

- patients who lived in Harrow and were registered with a Harrow GP
could make an appointment at the two GP Access Centres based in
Harrow. These Access Centres would have access to the patients’
medical records. However, if patients from another borough wanted to
access the Walk-In facility at the Pinn Medical Centre, their medical
records would not be accessible by the staff at the Pinn;

- the NHS 111 Service would help direct patients to the correct surgery
or medical facility. The NHS 111 Service could also book
appointments for a patient;

- in relation to the personal experience and the difficulties experienced
by a Councillor when trying to book an appointment through the NHS
111 Service, the representative undertook to investigate why it had not
been possible for the Service to book the appointment at her own GP
Practice when one was available.

-B55 -



-56 -

In response to additional questions about the difference in the representations
received in respect of the Centres at Alexandra Avenue and Belmont when
compared to the Pinn Medical Centre, representatives of the CCG reported
that:

- the volume of representations in respect of the Pinn Medical Centre
had made it challenging to change it from a Walk-In Centre to a GP
Access Centre. A large petition had been received against the change.
In respect of the Centres at Alexandra Avenue and Belmont, the CCG
had worked with the providers to move from existing models of Walk-In
Centres to GP Access Centres. Patients at both these Centres had
also supported the change;

- the CCG was in in discussions with the Pinn Medical Centre and that
until these discussions had been concluded, it was not able to answer
some of the questions, including those relating to the financing
arrangements. Option appraisals had been undertaken and were
under discussion between the two parties. Once the discussion had
concluded, the CCG would publicise the outcome and present these to
the Sub-Committee and the Council’s Health and Wellbeing Board.

In response to questions about the payment systems, appointments and the
number of patients including pro-rata payments from the same Councillor,
representatives of the CCG stated that the CCG would like to retain the Pinn
Medical Centre as a Walk-In facilty and to increase the number of
appointments. This would help ensure accessibility and equity of service. A
representative reiterated that negotiations were underway and answers to
some of the questions could only be provided once these had been
completed.

Another Councillor referred to the ‘repatriation’ of patients by Hillingdon CCG
and whether other CCGs would be following suit, particularly those
neighbouring Hillingdon. In response, representatives of Harrow CCG
informed the Sub-Committee Watford and Hertfordshire were expected to
follow. Each CCG was funding GP Access Centres with a view to ‘bringing-in’
patients to their own Centres. In respect of a further question about the future
of the Pinn Medical Centre in such circumstances, a representative of the
CCG explained that it was likely that the Pinn would only see Harrow patients
if the services were not required by others currently using it. Access to
medical notes might remain an issue.

Members of the Sub-Committee asked additional questions and
representatives of Harrow CCG responded as follows:

- each GP Practice was run as an entity and was not required to provide
information on appointments. The CCG did not monitor the
appointments at GP surgeries. No such data was kept by the CCG but
Practices were required to keep open some slots for the NHS 111
Service to book. More recently, the CCG was working with Practices to
find out how patients were accessing services and the data was being
presented back. For example, it had become evident that students
from the Kenton area were using the A&E more which was due to the

10 Health and Social Care Scrutiny Sub-Committee - 3 March 2020



66.

Health and Social Care Scrutiny Sub-Committee - 3 March 211

hours of opening of the Practices in the area. In order to manage this
situation, Practices in Kenton were now open longer during the
evenings;

- the contract for GPs was a national one and set by the BMA (British
Medical Association). The CCG did not have powers to gain access to
appointments at GP Practices. However, scrutiny would increase and
it was important to note that appointment were not ‘wasted’ as GPs
spent their time in other ways but the CCG recognised the costs
attached;

- the number of people who had signed the petition in relation to the Pinn
Medical Centre was in the region of 21,000 compared to up to 15,000
each for Alexandra Avenue and Belmont Centres. However, exact
figures would be provided after the meeting, including the number of
people who had been surveyed and how these were conducted.

In conclusion, the Chair thanked representatives of the CCG for their
attendance and she was pleased to learn that the Pinn Medical Centre would
be retained as a Walk-In Centre.

Consultation on Draft Harrow Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2020-2025

The Sub-Committee noted that the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy was a
statutory requirement, which set the strategic objectives and focus for the
Joint Health and Wellbeing Board to address the health and wellbeing needs
of the population of Harrow. The Strategy was for a five year period from
2020 — 2025 and would be signed off by the Board in March 2020.

The Director of Public Health introduced the report and reported that there
was a statutory requirement for local partnerships to prepare a Strategy to
help improve the health and wellbeing of the people of Harrow. The Strategy
was jointly owned by the Council and Harrow CCG (Clinical Commissioning
Group). She added that the issues were complex and explained how the
environment contributed to the health and wellbeing of people.

The Director added that whilst Harrow was relatively affluent and healthy,
inequalities existed between Wards where there was a need for more focus.
As a result, broad areas with overarching concepts and themes, such as Start
Well, Live Well, Work Well and Age Well had been worked up. The Strategy
was aligned to the strategic direction set through other strategies, including
the Borough Plan, to maximise opportunities and strengthen delivery plans.
She added that:

- feedback had been received from various stakeholders, including the police,
acute hospitals, primary care centres and the voluntary sector;

- through the workshops across partners, priorities and challenges for Harrow
were discussed and these were reflected in the Strategy.

-57 -



- 58 -

Members asked the following questions:

Q1 — How would the Council support children and young adults who
were suffering from mental health problems?

In response, the Director of Public Health reported that, as part of wellbeing,
mental health featured significantly. The Council and the CCG were working
on a Mental Health Strategy to ensure that the tools available were suitable
for teenagers, young people and children of pre-school age. Both
organisations already worked in partnership to commission some mental
health services. However, in addition, resilience was key and the Council was
actively supporting schools to gain the London Healthy Schools Award, which
recognised the achievements of schools in supporting the health and
wellbeing of their pupils.

Q2 - How did the five-year Strategy fit with the 10-year Borough Plan?
Both were multi-agency. Joint commissioning between the CCG and
local authority was included as part of the Borough Plan — how did the
partners determine what areas or services to focus upon?

The Director of Public Health reported that officers across Directorates had
worked closely on both documents. She was pleased that the Borough Plan
had a focus on addressing poverty, inequalities and health inequalities; all of
which were factors identified in the Strategy. In terms of prioritising, the main
categories of the Strategy could encompass many topics. Evidence had been
presented at the workshops with stakeholders which had helped to highlight
major issues and allowed them to identify the priorities for the initial action
plan.

Q3 - A relatively high proportion of Harrow adults were physically
inactive. At the Scrutiny Leadership Group in January, members raised
feedback from local sports/wellbeing groups that a rise in community
lettings rents had impacted upon the groups being run. Conversely,
Corporate Estates had fed back that they had not received any
comments on the increases in rents and any adverse impact on users.
What conversations were taking place to address these issues?

The Director of Public Health reported that Active Health Strategy and the
Obesity Action Plan looked at all aspects of physical activity. A number of
activities such as regular walking had been set up by GP Surgeries. She
provided an example of the Living Well Group set up by a GP who also
served on the Sub-Committee as an adviser. The adviser stated that his
surgery encouraged walking and promoted an active lifestyle.

The Director added that active travel and access to green spaces were key to
an active lifestyle and there was already a separate report setting out how
measures that would be implemented. In response to a further question
about deprivation and how this hindered health and wellbeing, the Director
explained that two areas in Harrow were being targeted in terms of promoting
an active lifestyle in South Harrow and Harrow and Wealdstone. The
Superzone around Whitefriars School was encouraging physical activity,
looking at parking provision, air pollution and takeaway outlets within the

12 Health and Social Care Scrutiny Sub-Committee - 3 March 2020



Health and Social Care Scrutiny Sub-Committee - 3 March 213

vicinity of the school. The Director explained that she was encouraging
schools to promote drinking water in order to help build on the message that
this would help prevent further deterioration of teeth which was an issue in
Harrow and reduce plastic pollution.

The Director reported that she was also working with Council officers across
Directorates to ensure that physical activity formed part of new housing
developments and regeneration projects and that it was inclusive.
Additionally, some community groups were promoting health events and she
cited an example of a community group in Wealdstone which had recently
held an event that was funded by the Public Health team. Work was also
ongoing with the group and, separately, with communities around schools in
Wealdstone.

Q4 — Stakeholder engagement appeared to be Council led. How was the
Director engaging with other agencies?

The Director of Public Health explained that those who attended the
workshops included the midwives, pediatricians, community staff, CCG,
Police and voluntary sector. It had been helpful to engage with a range of
people with various expertise. Additionally, the Strategy was included on the
Council’'s website but the response had not been huge.

Q5 — How would social prescribing help the elderly and how would it
strengthen communities?

In response, the Director of Public Health stated that social prescribing was a
good example of integrated care where the Council, primary care services
and the voluntary sector were operating as a single team. Social prescribing
involved helping patients to improve their health, wellbeing and social welfare
by connecting them to community services which might be run by the Council
or a local charity. She added that the service in place was already receiving
referrals. The role of the link worker was to meet with the patients to discuss
their needs, support them to make a change and to signpost them to a huge
range of opportunities across the borough. As a result of social prescribing,
projects had been established to support socially isolated people. She gave
an example of the new therapy garden on the Ridgeway and a new hub which
was to be developed as for people with mental health problems and their
carers to help address the issue of isolation.

Q6 — Barnet Council was developing housing for people with dementia.
Would Harrow Council follow suit?

The Director of Public Health reported that plans for the provision of extra-
care housing were underway. The Director of Adult Social Services reported
that she was working with colleagues in housing to ensure that homes were
provided for people with additional care needs, such as disability and
dementia. There were plans on the Poets Corner site for some of these units.

The Chair reported that she would send her comments and questions
separately to the Director for a response.

-59 -



67.

68.

- 60 -

RESOLVED: That having reviewed and commented on the draft Harrow
Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2020-2025, the comments and questions set
out in the preamble above be noted and, where appropriate, included in the
version submitted to the Health and Wellbeing Board.

Update from NW London Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee
The Sub-Committee received a report, which set out the discussions held at
the meeting of the North West London Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny
Committee (JHOSC) on 27 January 2020 at the Royal Borough of Kensington
and Chelsea.

Members noted that the next JHOSC meeting would be held on 9 March 2020
at Richmond Council and would include an item on patient transport.

RESOLVED: That the report be noted.

Dates of Future Meetings - Municipal Year 2020/21

RESOLVED: To note the dates of meetings for the Municipal Year 2020/21.
24 June 2020 at 7.30 pm

19 November 2020 at 7.30 pm

23 February 2021 at 7.30 pm.

(Note: The meeting, having commenced at 7.35 pm, closed at 9.15 pm).

(Signed) COUNCILLOR REKHA SHAH
Chair

14 Health and Social Care Scrutiny Sub-Committee - 3 March 2020



(i)

LONDON

Aaenda Iltem 6
Pages 15to 18

HEALTH AND SOCIAL
CARE SCRUTINY SUB-
COMMITTEE

Date of Meeting:

Subject:

Responsible Officer:

Scrutiny Lead
Member area:

Exempt:

Wards affected:

Enclosures:

24 June 2020

Appointment of (non-voting) Advisers
to the Sub-Committee 2020/21

Hugh Peart, Director of Legal and
Governance Services

N/A

No

None

None

Section 1 - Summary and Recommendations

This report informs Members in relation to the appointment of two non-voting
advisers to the Sub-Committee. Members are requested to consider and
agree the appointment of the advisers to the Sub-Committee for the 2020/21

Municipal Year.

Recommendations:

That, in accordance with the Committee Procedure Rules (Part 4B of the
Constitution - Rule 33.9) the nominees named in this report, be appointed as
advisors to the Sub-Committee for the 2020/21 Municipal Year.

15



Section 2 - Report

2.1 Rule 33.9 of Committee Procedure Rules (Part 4B of the Council’s
Constitution) provides for a Scrutiny Sub-Committee to appoint non-
voting advisers (to assist in the work of the Sub-Committee either
generally or on specific matters).

2.2  The following advisers have confirmed that they wish to continue as
advisers to the Sub-Committee for the 2020/21 Municipal Year:

Dr Nizar Merali (Local Medical Committee)
Mr Julian Maw (HealthWatch Harrow).

2.3 If appointed, the advisers will be required to comply with the Council’s
Protocol on Co-optees and Advisers (Part 5H of the Council’s
Constitution).

Ward Councillors’ comments
Not applicable.

Financial Implications
There are no financial or legal implications arising from this report.

Performance Issues
None.

Environmental Impact
None.

Risk Management Implications
If not appointed, the Sub-Committee may not have access to expert external
advice when conducting its business.

Equalities implications / Public Sector Equality Duty

It is anticipated that appointing the proposed advisers will support the Council
in meeting its Public Sector Equality Duty based on the advice they will be
able to contribute.

Council Priorities

Promotes ‘addressing health and social care inequality’ in a general sense by
enabling scrutiny of health care services and that they meet the needs of
Harrow residents.

16



Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance

on behalf of the
Name: Sharon Daniels Chief Financial Officer

Date: 8 June 2020

on behalf of the
Name: Paresh Mehta Monitoring Officer

Date: 11 June 2020

Ward Councillors notified: N/A

Section 4 - Contact Details and Background
Papers

Contact: Daksha Ghelani, Senior Democratic Services Officer
Tel: 020 8424 1881

Background Papers: Council's Constitution

http://www.harrow.gov.uk/www?2/ieListMeetings.aspx?Cld=1092&Info=1&bcr=
1

17



http://www.harrow.gov.uk/www2/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=1092&Info=1&bcr=1
http://www.harrow.gov.uk/www2/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=1092&Info=1&bcr=1

This page is intentionally left blank



NW London Out of Hospital
aRecovery Plan: Harrow

5t June 2020
Harrow Health & Care Executive Approved v5.0




Contents

Harrow Out of Hospital Recovery Plan

1  Introduction 3

2.  How We Work: Harrow Integrated Care Partnership and NW London Shared Principles 4-6

3.  Managing Population Health & Tackling Inequalities 7-13
4. Working together: What's worked well and learning from our Covid-19 response 14-16
5. Planning for recovery and second wave 17-24
&  Proactive Planned Care 25-30
7. Integrated Community Based Urgent Care 31-33
8. How we will support implementation 34-40

The North West London
health and care partnership



1. Introduction
Harrow Out of Hospital Recovery Plan

For a number of years Harrow has been on a journey towards integrated, person and community-centred care — from the original Whole System Integrated
Care (WSIC) model for over 65s; to the decision in 2016 to establish the Integrated Care Alliance / Integrated Care Partnership (ICP); and in 2019 to transition from
the development stage of the ICP to delivery at-scale.

All partners have shared how hard this journey has felt, even at the best of times — and in common with systems across England and around the world, never
have the challenges for us individually and collectively been greater than in the recent months of the Covid-19 outbreak.

When, after significant discussion and self-reflection, we committed in February 2020 to the next “100-days” of our ICP development — with six shared
priority areas of implementing our holistic Frailty Model; aligning our Mental Health Services; adopting a Population Health Management approach to diabetes;
mobilising our Community Assets; integrating with our Voluntary and Community Sector partners; and developing our joint Learning Disabilities support — no-one
could have foreseen what the next 100 days would fully bring.

'"\swever, as we look back on those 100 days since the beginning of March, when the newly formed Harrow Health & Care Executive (HHaCE) became the
Eo.centre of our ICP and of our work with local partners on supporting each other in responding to Covid-19 — bringing together, as it has, on a weekly basis
senior representatives of the acute, community, mental health, social services, primary care networks, voluntary and community sector, CCG and broader council
services — we see the foundations of a system that we believe will enable us to drive improvements in health and wellbeing, reductions in inequalities, and the
sustainable use of collective resources: both to meet current demands across these areas and our future health and wellbeing priorities for Harrow as a whole.

This is not to suggest that the next steps will be easy — in many ways, following on from the unprecedented challenges of re-purposing our health and care
systems to meet the challenges of Covid-19, the process of continuing to manage safety and risk; capacity and flow; support for both existing and new long-term
conditions and care needs; and of accelerating the journey of integration across the partnership; is an even bigger ask of our workforce, our relationships, and all of
those who are involved in delivering care in our communities. Nonetheless, in many areas implementation of this plan is already underway.

As we recognised in February, our five Primary Care Networks will be critical to the success of this, with primary care at the heart of our out-of-hospital
recovery plan. But it is only by working together as a single team, in support of all of the people of Harrow, that we will succeed in delivering safe, effective care
which harnesses the diverse assets of our organisations and our partnership — enabling all of those we care for to “Start Well, Live Well, Work Well and Age Well”.

The North West London
health and care partnership



2. How we work
Harrow Integrated Care Partnership

In engagement with partners across Harrow, including our patient and public representatives, they tell us consistently the next stage of our ICP development needs to:

* show real and tangible improvements for patients and staff throughout the borough.

* making integrated working “business as usual”, building on progress and learning to-date.

» develop through collaboration with Primary Care Networks and the communities they support.
* be underpinned by shared and realistic plans, resources and funding.

We recognise that future changes will need to be phased over time, with individual parts of e
Harrow having the flexibility to adapt local responses to local community and individual needs. Vision & Values

However, there is also a very real commitment to making the borough-based partnership the Relationships,
way in which Harrow enables and achieves truly integrated care for all of its partners and corz'm”fltn?:a‘iion
fonmunities; one which capture the progress which has been made over the last three months in

Ioveloping our collaborative working and new ways of meeting demand; together with an energy @

around ensuring that we make the further changes required to safeguard and support our population in Leadership Shiﬁ‘:‘:ﬂ‘;’;t;fkme
the short, medium and longer term.

To achieve this, our Recovery Plan will be underpinned by:

Planning, process,
inter-operability &
digital tools

Organisational
Structure
Performance &
Management

» effective joint design, planning, and delivery built on a shared view of local priorities and needs.

* leadership and governance that is streamlined and works together and not in conflict or
duplication with organisational and NWL system structures.

e support to each other with pooled resources and finances where there is agreement to co-
develop and transition to new ways of working.

e investment in shared organisational development and behaviours which will enable
collaborative working and build relationships.

The North West London
health and care partnership



2. How we work
Shared principles (1/2)

For each aspect of our plan, we have ensured our proposals reflect principles developed jointly to guide provision and development of care in our communities
across North West London as a whole (recognising the common historic challenges, and the potential to work together to support broader improvements):

Characteristics of
the past

Characteristics of the present and the future

What this means for out of hospital care

Inconsistent approach
and variable quality and
effectiveness

One system working with consistent safety and
effectiveness:

best practice infection control across all services (remote
access to services as default, and segregation of physical
services), and providing the most effective care-based on
evidence (e.g. GIRFT); and adopting action learning
model to test our models to consistently improve.

» Common IPC guidance and service segregation

» Addressing inequalities

« Scope children and adults, cradle to grave, physical and mental health
» Consistent support to shielded patients

» Consistent support to care homes across NWL

 Virtual first will be the default with talk before you walk

‘N g to’, creating
d & ndency and
passivity

One system working with our communities:

empowering and activating people to help themselves,
supporting communities to help one another; and working
with our communities to be clear and transparent about
what is happening and why, including what we may need
to stop doing.

e Support expansion personalised care and devolved budgets, co-production
» Voluntary sector and volunteers as key partners
» Focus on social isolation and social exclusion

« Importance of focussing on wider determinants of health to promote health lives rather than treating iliness e.g.
connection between employment and mental health

Silos of specialism

One system working with a team of teams:

enabling our staff to work as teams without walls — more
easily integrating across community, primary, secondary,
tertiary and mental health care as well as across NHS and
social care (e.g. portable arrangements and trusted
assessor model).

» Consistent community services offer building on pre-Covid plans — rapid responses, core planned service

» Joined up care up around the whole person building block primary integrated provision including social care
» Continued elimination of DTOCs working with local authorities, future discharge model

* PCN will be the default unit of provision in primary care

» Single point of contact for accessing and coordinating services

* Lead community trust for each borough working in collaboration with other Trusts

* Lead community trust facing each hospital

» Utilising our skills and expertise to best effect to deliver care rather than being dictated by employing organisation
or funding flows especially across NHS and Local Authority

» Reduce bureaucracy that stifles progress and innovation but with appropriate governance

The North West London
health and care partnership



2. How we work
Shared principles (2/2)

Characteristics of Characteristics of the present and the future ~ What this means for out of hospital care

the past

Information poor and led One system working with shared clinical & e WISC — use of population health management tool, across all organisations

by events operational intelligence: « Population health management based on good data should drive our approach to our care for residents
using real-time information to proactively identify people e Common IT platform between primary, community and mental health interoperability
with hlgh care needs (eg shielded patients); using a e Common single care planning tool

single PTL to ensure fair and timely access; combining
real time operational data to support mutual aid across
sites & service (e.g. manage capacity and demand); and
using all of this information to learn fast and improve
where necessary.

S N rate organisations One system working with collaboration across sites: e Addressing inequalities

¢ )eting using the facilities we have as part of a single network; » Sharing existing and back office function at scale including PCN and Trusts
putting the right services in the right places according to ¢ Planned community services on the PCN footprint as far as practicable (geographical coherent) recognising service
best practice and need to enable safe, effective and resilience and flexibility
equitable care and mutual aid; and ensuring fair and « Build on multiborough services and shared across NWL..... If already exist share them, e.g. build out

equitable outcomes to everyone in NWL, based on need. « Joint approach to services undertaken by both LA and NHS such as CHC

In parallel with collaboration across our community-based services, colleagues working in the acute sector have been a fundamental part of the Harrow Health &
Care Executive and our borough-based response. We will continue to engage jointly in the development of the Harrow ICP and in ensuring that our out-of-hospital plans
are co-ordinated at a North West London level, including understanding and managing the risks as patient pathways are restarted in the context of “pent-up” demand and
continuing restrictions on capacity resulting from the need for Covid-19 related safeguards and controls.

Understanding demand and capacity across NW London will be critical to this process, as will regular engagement and communication with our primary and community
services to ensure that there is effective expectation setting and management at a local level, in support of the broader sector recovery plan.

The North West London
health and care partnership



3. Managing Population Health & Tackling Inequalities
The Harrow context

« Harrow has a population of over 250,000 and is characterised as a “densely-populated”
borough with 410 confirmed cases of Covid-19 per 100,000 population as of 26" May 2020.

- :
» Harrow has an ethnically diverse population, with White 42%, Asian/Asian British 43% and " --'-::l-.
8% from a Black/African/Caribbean/Black British ethnic background. e || rpfeee -
» There are big variations in life expectancy throughout the borough: men in west Harrow . B |
can expect to live for 5.5 years longer than those in Greenhill, and women in inner south Harrow :‘Z r;____ ________ _L.'
can expect to live greater than ten years longer than women in Wealdstone. *w :'_"'1 '-:
* 15% Harrow population is over 65 and 4.3% Harrow population over 80. Recent research o5 \ :
by the BMA shows that 50% over 65s already live with a degree of frailty. = f e —————he
» According to the most recent census data Harrow’s population includes 24,620 carers, 353 ;"J" - : i
@ the second highest level in London, often looking after older people with Long Term Health i . ,-.:
conditions who are at higher risk from Covid-19, and needing greater support to recover. ” ----- :*----'
e The national survey of adult carers in 2016 showed approximately 40% of carers s i_f__________ S s _'i
receiving support from Harrow were themselves over 65, potentially managing one or more q pebemmmees —mm————————e
long term conditions of their own, and also at enhanced risk from Covid-19. N——— : | : '
* Harrow has 57 Care Homes in total, including: 0% 40% 30% 20N 10N 00N 10% 20N 30N  4O%  3OM
— 12 Nursing homes (627 beds)
' Harrow Wioeme i LV Haw row Mtabe Ward Wormnen Ward Men

— 34 Learning Disability / Mental Health homes (265 beds)
— 11 Residential homes (296 beds)
with at least a further 5 homes in other boroughs supported by Harrow GPs. Sources: PHE, Harrow JSNA, Harrow Council, ONS, BMA (2018)

» Harrow currently has over 12,000 shielded people living in the borough.
The North West London
health and care partnership
y



3. Managing Population Health & Tackling Inequalities
Addressing the impact of Covid-19

As part of our response planning we have considered the recent Public Health England review of disparities in risks and outcomes for Covid-19. The PHE
analysis has looked into effects of age, sex, deprivation, region and ethnicity, but it does not take into account the existence of comorbidities, which are strongly associated
with the risk of death from Covid-19 and are likely to explain some of the differences. Continuing to improve the holistic management of long-term conditions in Harrow is a
key priority for our partnership, as (working with VCSE colleagues) is addressing the broader socio-economic determinants of health and wellbeing, including inequalities
exacerbated by the effects of the Covid-19 outbreak. However, as an area with a diverse population and a diverse workforce, we recognise our shared responsibility to
address emerging disparities in risks and outcomes specifically in our immediate and future plans:

8. Comorbidities
Diabetes & other Long
Term Conditions

7. Care homes
Living in care homes

6. Inclusion health
groups
Migrants, those with no

Risk factor 1. Age and sex

Older people, Male

2. Geography
Urban areas

4. Ethnicity
BAME groups

5. Occupation
Nursing, Social Care,

Other Key Workers

Priorities for

* Integrated support
to our shielded
population.

» Development of
Covid-19 protected
and risk-managed
pathways co-
ordinated through our
five PCNs.

3. Deprivation
Deprived areas

» Use of population
health data including
WSIC and Harrow
Public Health to
identify and support
deprived areas and at
risk populations within
Harrow.

Close working with

* A focus on BAME
support co-ordinated
across mental and
physical health
services.

Effective
communication and
engagement across
all of our communities

* A rigorous and co-
ordinated focus on
staff mental and
physical heath and
wellbeing across
NHS, local authority
and VCSE
organisations.

« Ensuring ongoing

fixed abode

Improved
community
resilience and
responsiveness
including co-
ordination through the
Harrow community
hub and partnerships
with local VCSE

A named clinical
lead per home
providing a co-
ordinated Single Point
of Access.

Weekly reviews and
24X7 support across
all our Care Homes

Proactive calls on

» A specific focus in

our recovery plans
on standing up
services and support
for those living with
one or more Long
Term Conditions,
including as one of
our top three priorities

RN . Targeted investment Local Authority and living and working in availability of PPE organisations. weekends to high- improving

Plan in prevention to VCSE partners to Harrow to ensure that and testing, and » Working with risk homes across management of
support population target broader equal access to effective “zoning” colleagues across Harrow. diabetes.
health and wellbeing, determinants of health advice, guidance, and management of NWL to address « On-call geriatric » Establishment of the
including encouraging and wellbeing. services and support. patients and service ongoing challenges consultant available LTC “home” to

uptake of Health
Checks.

Proactive support
and co-ordination
through our PCNs
including promotion of
Health Checks.

users across all care
settings, supported by
our PCN virtual
“homes”.

and opportunities
including in providing
effective support for
homeless health.

in support.
Co-ordinated PPE
and testing for staff
and residents.

support co-ordination
through our PCNs of
support and services.

The North West London
health and care partnership



3. Managing Population Health & Tackling Inequalities
Our Strategy

Our Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2020-2025 aims to improve the health and wellbeing of the local community and reduce health inequalities across all
ages. We believe in the context of Covid-19 recovery, it is more vital than ever that we work together to deliver these commitments.

Our vision for Harrow is that of a healthy, happy borough. All individuals should have equal opportunities to education, health care, healthy living conditions and access to
healthy food and physical activity opportunities. These opportunities should be available and appropriate to all, at all stages of life. Maintaining a life course approach to
this strategy allows for focus on opportunities and impact on all life stages.

1. Reducing the gap in life expectancy: There is currently a difference in life expectancy across the borough of seven years for men and nine years for women.
Through the course of the five years of the strategy, and through the actions across the life course, we aim to decrease this gap. Particular actions that will contribute to
this outcome are those addressing the economical stability of the borough, looking at school outcomes, and looking at the living environment in the borough. Ensuring a
good start in life for all, regardless of ethnicity, socio-economic group, or gender, will play a key part in tackling inequalities.

:IQIDFocusing on prevention: Through focusing on prevention we will work to increase rates of physical activity, address access to healthy foods, improve oral health, and
ensure services are available to support early intervention and screening (e.g. through the Health Checks programme); stopping smoking; substance use; healthy sexual
behaviours; and self care which is facilitated and encouraged. Through a focus on prevention we aim to halt the rise of obesity prevalence in both adults (QOF) and
children (NCMP Year 6) by 2025.

3. Improving emotional wellbeing: Emotional wellbeing and resilience is vital for a healthy happy population. We will reduce recorded rates of anxiety in the borough
(annual population survey) and in schools (developing schools questionnaire). Emotional wellbeing is important through out childhood and adulthood, for resilience and
happiness. Actions across the life course in different settings - schools, workplaces, primary and community care - will tackle emotional wellbeing and increase access to
mental health services.

4. Ensuring an integrated approach to care: Through an integrated approach, care will be delivered in the right place, at the right time. Across the care system, impact
will be seen including through a reduction in attendances in A&E in adults. We will ensure care is centred around the patient in the community, through an integrated
approach which breaks down organisational barriers. We will work to reduce variation across care provision, keep care local and improve access.

The North West London
health and care partnership



3. Managing Population Health & Tackling Inequalities
ICP Priorities and Success Measures

We will evolve and build upon the ICP’s work on population health management, to ensure that for each of the areas identified in this recovery plan we have in
place robust measures for managing our progress in the short, medium and longer term. We recognise that Covid-19 has introduced new risks; that we now have
individuals presenting with more complex and severe needs; and that those recovering from Covid-19 will need additional support. CLCH is working in collaboration with
Sollis and primary care colleagues in Harrow to establish a population health management programme that extracts and monitors multiple health metrics from the WSIC

platform in order to provide PCN-level data to help our MDTs to prioritise high risk patients and prevent their deterioration and admission.

Pre-Covid Risk

Stratification
(WSIC)

Definition 77% of adult population —
patients with no long-term
conditions or risks who may be
most suited to transactional care

e.g. routine appointments.

Areas of Prevention and strengths-
Focus based work

Key  Improvement in self-reported

Measures Warwick-Edinburgh Mental
Wellbeing Scales (WEMWBS)

* Rates of Immunisation

 Rates of Health Checks

« Proportion Harrow residents
report adequate access to
health food (residents survey)

19% of adult population —
patients with existing conditions
who are not outliers for service
use, or control their health. Likely
to be suitable for routine Long
Term Condition management at
practice level.

Early diagnosis and self-care

« Proportion of adults physically
active (PAMS)

 Uptake of community offers
(Social prescribing evaluation)

« Self-management of LTC

« Early identification of dementia

- Dementia prevalence

* Access to Advice and Guidance

* Care for children with ASD

0.6% of total adult population —

patients with existing conditions
who are also outliers for service
use, or control of their health.

Likely to be suitable for pro-active

care at network or practice level.

Primary care management and
surveillance

* PAMS

e LTC-related admissions

« Early identification of LTCs

« OTC and LCV prescribing

* IAPT access 90% GP Access
Hub Utilisation

« Patient satisfaction: GP Access

» Equipment costs

« Device costs for enteral feeds

 Phone advice and support

« Early identification of cancer

High Risk

2.9% of the total adult
population — very complex

patients with co-morbidities and /

or high admission risk who may

benefit from case management to

co-ordinate their care more
effectively.

Crisis management and
unplanned care

* PAMS

* In NEL attendances and
admissions

* LAS call-outs from care homes

« Delayed Transfers of Care

« Long length of Stay

» Excess bed days

» HCCT referrals (1500pa)

» Mental Health DTOC

- C2C

 O/P follow up

Specialist / End of Life

0.7% of the total adult
population — patients already
receiving End of Life or Specialist
Services and therefore probably
not appropriate for case
management or care planning.

Last phase of life

« Patients dying in their place of
choice

10

The North West London
health and care partnership



3. Managing Population Health & Tackling Inequalities
Addressing mental and physical health inequalities

Tackling health inequalities will involve embedding the tools and approaches for effective population health management: The Harrow Public Health team
is working with the NWL WSIC team to extract and analyse de-identified data sets for the improvement of Harrow’s population health (including Long Term
Conditions) and the reduction of unwarranted variation. The data will be used to determine key areas of focus for integrated care, broken down by practice and PCN.

Reversing the inverse care law: eliminating unwarranted variation in resources and outcomes: diabetes, depression and hypertension. We will continue to
target hard-to-reach communities through multi-language communication; health and social care staff attending community meetings and hubs to deliver key
messaging around health and well-being; linking into communities via patient champions; and proactive promotion of health checks across the population.

Supporting community resilience: working in partnership with Harrow Council and Voluntary & Community Sector to deliver support to Self-care and Long Term
Condition management (in priority areas such as Diabetes and Dementia); to tackle health inequalities and stabilise mental wellbeing; and to expand shared
education, training, and engagement of other key service areas such as housing.

N ipport to vulnerable people and families, including mental health and learning disabilities: our approach to identifying and reducing inequalities through
quupport to vulnerable people and families in this period will include:

* Improved access to Mental Health information, tools & advice as part of community transformation, with specific work on Complex Emotional Needs (CEN).

* Investing in long-term psychological support for frontline staff.

» A focus on BAME support including trust-wide approaches being developed within CNWL.

* Mental Health rehabilitation and step down models to support people in the community.

* Increasing access to Talking Therapies (IAPT) and counselling including online therapies.

* Increase access to CAMHS.

* An integrated crisis offer that enables community based support and patient choice including Mental Health Emergency Centre at Northwick Park Hospital
and new community based VSCE-delivered “crisis-havens”.

* Learning Disabilities recovery planning managing the anticipated surge in demand for known patients alongside preparing for any backlog in LD Eligibility &
Autism Diagnostic assessment; with remote advice & consultation available to non-specialist services.

The North West London
health and care partnership
11



3. Managing Population Health & Tackling Inequalities
Support to Children & Young People (1/2)
During the Covid-19 outbreak, we have worked hard to maintain our support to Children & Young People across Harrow. As we move into the recovery

phase, we will be building on these developments and relationships, working together as the NHS and Harrow Council with key local partners including
schools and the voluntary & community sector; expanding our digital offer; and implementing the THRIVE framework.

Harrow 0-19

0

Increased our digital offer with new birth visits taking place virtually where possible.

Maintained essential elements of service including where there are safeguarding
concerns; and in support early of identification, e.g. via face-to-face Health Visiting.
Developed proactive linking with schools to support them in both closing-down
and to re-open, including re-establishment of immunisation programmes.

Child health and wellbeing duty line: managing key health development checks
and immunisations.

Maintained all essential healthy child contacts as per community guidance and
provide support and advice as required.

Followed up all new births where jaundice / low birth weight or other health
concerns were flagged.

Recovery of childhood immunisations to pre-COVID levels as a minimum. We will
analyse available data to support recovery and develop a robust communication
programme emphasising the importance of immunisations and the safety measures
we are taking in relation to providing them.

Looked After Children

Maintained Initial and review health reviews virtually.
Ensured CYP had access to advice and support as required.

Good support network around Multiagency approach wrapped EX pan d In g
the child — parents, schools, 0-19 around Primary Care Networks th e Th rive
service Quick and easy to access

Easy to access advice and early Upskilled professionals in GP's, Framewor k

support — know where to go, e ) Social Care, schoaols, Children’s
accessible support online . Centres

Comprehensive 0-25 model
One peint of access in a crisis Productive, easy to access Core
CYP cared for in the most o) CAMHS service

appropriate setting Post discharge recovery support

Coherent bed management Happy, motivated workforce
using innovative posts to
support low vacancies and high
retention

Harrow Horizons, our Emotional Wellbeing Service co-produced with
children, young people and their families, and commissioned jointly with
the CCG and local authority, has harnessed digital technologies to meet the
challenges of Covid-19. Working with those up to age 18 (or 25 for CYP with
special education needs and/or disabilities) it forms a key part of our Thrive
Framework and brings together partners from across the system. We are now
working with service users and the provider to explore how we can embed
innovation and alternative delivery models as part of our commitment to
Prevention and Early Intervention, and developing community resilience.

12

The North West London
health and care partnership



3. Managing Population Health & Tackling Inequalities
Support to Children & Young People (2/2)

Core CAMHS
- Working with local partners to implement the Thrive model and update transformation plans including early identification of concerns with children; and upskilling
partners including schools, local authority, VCS and parents to ensure children have a comprehensive support network skilled and able to support their individual needs.

- Working towards achievement of Long Term Plan goals including recruitment of staff in line with mental health investment standard.

- How we ‘live with Covid’ and increase service provision and footfall on-site whilst managing social distancing and infection control across the CAMHS estate.

- Bereavement support under review and development, including earning from Grenfell.

Urgent Care

- EAS review to scope long term provision.

- Surge in A&E presentations anticipated as lockdown measures lift, with associated staffing plans and support from volunteers as appropriate.

Digital
fﬁ CAMHS website / digital platform offer to be further developed as part of longer term CAMHS communication & engagement project.

- Covid-19 digital transformation to be harnessed as part of business-as-usual CAMHS provision (increase in digital appointments from 15% pre-Covid to 80%).
Communication & Engagement

- CAMHS-wide communication and engagement project being launched.

- Key stakeholders kept up-to-date on service provision changes in response to evolving advice and guidance.

Collaboration

- Discussions continue around pan-NWL opportunities and challenges emerging from Covid-19.

- Links with schools as lockdown measures are adjusted to support and manage potential surges in referrals (e.g. social anxiety and school refusal).

- Increased integration between the 0-19 Nursing Service and Harrow’s Children’s Centres.

Community Paediatric Services

- Recovery of our jointly-commissioned SALT and OT Services embedding new ways of working across the system including in education and other settings,
ensuring that the interfaces with families and schools are in place to undertake statutory assessments for children and young people with an EHCP.

The North West London
health and care partnership
13



4. Working together
What's worked well and learning from our Covid19 response (1/2)

It is easy to list the many changes that have taken place across Harrow since March 2020, to celebrate the way in which services have responded and
transformed to meet the demands upon them, as well as to recognise the lessons-learnt both for future management of Covid-19 and future approaches to our
health and wellbeing as a whole.

Whilst the rapid adoption of digital technologies is perhaps one of the most obvious effects of the outbreak, it is also just one example of how we have moved as an ICP
from a process of piloting, at limited scale and over many months; to rapid implementation of major changes across the whole of Harrow in a matter of days and weeks.

Underpinning these more profound changes have been the thousands of daily conversations between colleagues across Harrow, supporting each other and
those they are caring for, throughout the evolution of the pandemic.

We have seen our Primary Care Networks and practices come together as never before to work together and to ensure the resilience of our primary care system upon
which the rest of our joint working relies; mirrored in the collaboration across broader acute, community, mental health, public health, social services and our voluntary and
W nmunity sector to help safeguard our population and to continue to provide vital services to those in need.

N

There have been daily COVID Care Home calls between the LA, CCG, local public health, community providers to manage evolving care home outbreaks and to
respond as an ICP - born out of a willingness to understand the detail of the problems facing our care homes and to apply strategic solutions which focussed on the
operational issues that matter and how we could help each other.

And there have been frequent, often daily primary care leadership meetings between CCG and PCNs, with daily bulletins of key changes in guidance and response
restructuring developments and weekly forums with the wider general practice workforce. All of this has set the context within which we have jointly developed the
proposed recovery plan for Harrow.

However, we recognise that the coming period will bring new, as well as existing, challenges. As we re-open services both inside and out of hospital, the need to
protect patients, service users and staff will continue to impact on our capacity to meet demand. Patients are likely to wait longer for referral and treatment, and as a result
we need to continue to expand and build upon advice and guidance, self-management and broader community support services. At the other end of the spectrum, many
people remain deeply concerned around using our services; from children and parents, to vulnerable older people, we need to reassure them our services are safe.

The North West London
health and care partnership
14



4. Working together
What's worked well and learning from our Covid19 response (2/2)

Our recovery plan recognises the importance of continuing this work, and particularly, of ensuring that those on the frontline continue to have the autonomy
to make the decisions needed in the interest of the individuals and communities of which they are a part. There has been particular learning around how we
protect our care homes and successfully shield those at greatest risk from Covid-19 infection, even as we also work on the wider health and wellbeing needs of individuals
across Harrow as a whole. It is critical this learning is not lost, as we manage and mitigate the risks of future outbreaks nationwide.

We will ensure that we stand-up preventative services as a priority, including child immunisation and, over coming months, our resources for managing winter
pressures; and build on the wider contribution of the voluntary and community sector in Harrow, including in social prescribing, supporting self-management,
identifying and aiding victims of abuse, and managing the impact of Covid-19 on the wider socio-economic determinants of health.

We recognise the model for children is particularly complex as risks and profiles frequently evolve, children are dependent on their parents/carers to access
services, and much of our school system currently remains closed. We therefore need to re-enable universal face-to-face provision to a greater extent, to pick up
issues early, and to maintain a good balance between new ways of working and our safeguarding responsibilities. Whilst we have been able to move some new birth visits
w ual, Health Visiting is particularly vital to identifying vulnerable families. We will be looking at how we introduce the Maternal Early Childhood Sustained Home-visiting
(MECSH) programme to help strengthen this area, alongside increased used of digital interventions.

Social prescribing is already playing a key role in helping to stabilise long-term conditions and support individuals to live healthy and well, and we will be
seeking to expand the current levels of collaboration between the voluntary & community sector and primary care across all areas of our response to immediate and future
health needs. In this way we will ensure that primary, voluntary & community, NHS community and social services “wrap around” our patients and service users and
provide a genuinely integrated set of services that support the outcomes that matter to them.

In addition, we understand the fundamental role that unpaid carers play within Harrow. In many cases they have been particularly affected by the lockdown and the

need to suspend routine services and support, and we need to ensure that their needs are taken into account as we begin the recovery journey, alongside the ongoing
health and wellbeing of those they care for.

Last, but by no means least, we recognise that we could not have done any of this without the commitment of our staff, across all health, local authority and
voluntary & community services. Their welfare is a core part of our plan for the months and years to come.

The North West London

health and care partnership



4. Working together
Key developments since March 2020

At the start of the Covid-19 outbreak in London, a decision was taken to co-ordinate Harrow’s response through the newly-formed Harrow Health & Care
Executive, co-chaired by Harrow Council’s Corporate Director of People Services and Harrow CCG’s Managing Director, with senior representation from all local
partners. There has been significant learning, with much more to do, but examples of the achievements across the partnership since the beginning of March 2020 include:

Integrated Care Partnership development
» Weekly Health & Care Executive meetings: escalating issues, developing
shared plans, and co-ordinating our Covid-19 responses.

* Relationships & Culture: strong recognition of individual and team efforts across
organisational boundaries, in supporting our communities through Covid-19.

Urgent response services

* Rapid establishment of COVID 19 Hub: during initial phases of outbreak.

-wCOVID Rapid Response team: created to support Care Homes and the Frail

N clderly.

* Development of Acute-based, Community-led Discharge Hub: to ensure
safe patient flow from hospital to community / home.

* Mental Health Emergency Centres (Adults & CAMHS): based at Northwick
Park Hospital.

Primary care resilience

* SITREP reporting in Primary Care: overseen by our PCN Clinical Directors.
* Practice Co-horting Plans: to ensure sector resilience.

* Home Visiting Services for Shielded Patients: including phlebotomy and INR
monitoring.

* Pulse Oximetry Deployment and Monitoring Service: with VCSE partners.

Support to care homes

e 24/7 Support: established across Harrow Care Homes.

* Proactive Calls: on the weekend to ‘high-risk’ Homes.

* On-call Geriatric Consultant: available to support GPs (Mon — Fri, 8am — 8pm).
» Urgent Local Testing: arranged for residents and staff affected by outbreaks.
Robust testing arrangements

* Expansion of Hub Activities: to include COVID testing and patient monitoring.
* Integrated Working: with health and social care around testing in care facilities.
Rapid deployment of digital solutions

* Online Consultations: adopted across primary care.

» Local Data Sharing: between health and social care for Shielded Patients to
ensure effective deployment of care teams.

» Distribution of IT EQuipment: to support virtual consulting in General Practice.
Community resilience

* Volunteering / GoodSAM App: bereavement and mental health support.
* Local Authority Community Hub: co-ordinating food parcels and welfare support.

Mental Health
e 7-day working for Community Mental Health Teams.

16

* Cohorting and swabbing on wards.
The North West London
health and care partnership




5. Planning for recovery and second wave:
Managing safety, risk, capacity and flow

Our priorities for Harrow build on the progress to-date in responding as a partnership to Covid-19, but recognise the specific challenges ahead, including in
restoring access to services and support across our population to both shielded and non-shielded individuals, adults and children, and those requiring mental
and physical health and care support.

The Covid-19 outbreak has put further pressures on a system already under financial strain and whilst we have been able to support each other to respond to the
requirements of the Covid-19 throughout the last three months, we are already seeing the effects in relation to increased demands across a wide-range of services; and, in
a number of cases, increased acuity in those now presenting who require our help and support.. Our key priorities are:

Managing Safety and Risk: across our population as a whole, including ensuring that effective measures are in place to support those living, working and receiving
services in Harrow, whichever health or care services they require access to; and those who are in need of additional support, whilst being shielded, self-isolating, and / or
recovering from a period of Covid-19 infection.

« We will achieve this by continuing to develop our borough delivery model for ensuring that care is as safe as possible, with our PCNs working in

&o)artnership with Mental Health, Community, Social Care and Voluntary Sector organisations; including “Virtual First”; robust programmes of staff testing; ensuring
ongoing supply of PPE; supporting self-care; and implementing appropriate “zoning” within services — all to provide an environment in Harrow which is both safe, and
recognised to be safe, by those who need to access help and those providing it.

* We know a particular priority in Harrow will be continuing to support our many Care Home residents and shielded individuals, with specific arrangements in
place for them; but we also recognise that only by safeguarding the population as a whole will we be able to progress our recovery journey.

Managing Capacity and Flow: many of our services were already under significant pressure pre-Covid-19, and the restarting of services which were temporarily paused
during the Covid-19 outbreak will create new demands.

* Our Recovery Plan focusses on improving productivity through integrating our work and our teams, “standing-up” services in a way which develops and
transforms them and doesn’t just go back to how we were working before; and reducing emergency needs through proactive intervention in the community co-ordinated
at the frontline. Ciritical to our success will be effectively supporting those with Long Term Conditions and tackling existing and new health inequalities across Harrow.

The North West London
health and care partnership
17



5. Planning for recovery and second wave:
Managing Safety and Risk (1/3)

Borough delivery model: ensuring that care is as safe as possible

Our PCNs are working with Mental Health, Community, Social Care and Voluntary Sector organisations to support the safe delivery of proactive, patient-focused care,
including enhanced prevention and self-care programmes to enable people to live independently and well now and into the longer term. The same model will also support
provide reactive care to our population as a whole, including shielded and non-shielded patients, those living in their own homes and those in residential and nursing care,
recognising that as we move forward these groups are not fixed and we will need to manage effectively transitions between them. Our approach to managing safety and risk
will be supported by a robust process of segregation, testing, information sharing, PPE, communications and training:

Harrow population

Care Home
Residents

Shielded
patients

Pro-active pathway managed through “virtual homes” co-ordinated with PCNs and Multi-
Disciplinary Teams including primary care, mental health, community care, social care and voluntary
Pro-active sector partners (with all areas to include care act assessment and advocacy for citizens):

pathway
VIRTUAL
FIRST

Long term conditions: managing proactive and planned care for patients with LTC and complex
needs including self care and prevention.

Child health and wellbeing: managing key health checks and immunisations.

Care homes: a single point of contact, care home management and primary care input to MDT.
Mental health and wellbeing: with a focus on supporting shielded patients aligned to overall
transformed community MH hub offer.

Robust and regular staff testing programme in place

Reactive / urgent care pathway

Reactive .
pathway !
VIRTUAL
FIRST

Virtual and e-Consultations as default for urgent care needs.
Home visiting for urgent care needs that can be managed by the GP for shielded patients.

COVID protected and COVID risk managed pathways into urgent care services (UCC / GPAC /
A&E) where this is assessed clinically as being required.

Care Homes support providing reactive service where required.

The North West London
health and care partnership

18



5. Planning for recovery and second wave:
Managing Safety and Risk (2/3)

We will build on our PCN multi disciplinary team (MDT) model to co-ordinate our support to local people across all groups and care settings, including:

Zoning Testing

COVID protected Patient Testing/Track and Trace

Ensuring that essential services continue to be delivered in safe settings. The COVID Hub team tests residents at local care facilities as well as
Contact will be virtual by default for proactive, routine and urgent care services. developing results co-ordination protocols to update to GP records for all tests.
PCN level hubs central to the coordination of proactive care for this cohort.
Where face-to-face is needed, these will be delivered in COVID protected zones
with segregated teams within our out of hospital care settings to ensure robust
w fection control. Continued work in inpatient mental health settings to sustain
=~Ihd enable cohorting and isolation of C19+ patients who require inpatient mental
healthcare.

This will be co-ordinated with our local track-and-trace programme.

Staff Testing

Stalff testing services will be established at multiple locations in Harrow, with the
COVID hub acting as our primary testing site. Testing, initially for symptomatic
key workers, is extended to asymptomatic as well as carer agencies.

The North West London
health and care partnership
19



5. Planning for recovery and second wave:

Managing Safety and Risk (3/3)

We recognise that the Covid-19 status of individuals in
Harrow requiring health and care support will change
over time — including those who are being shielded, those
whose infection status is wunclear (symptomatic or
asymptomatic but identified as having been at risk of being
exposed) and those who are in recovery.

Our approach will ensure that our population have
access to the services they need through a robust process
of self-screening and virtual triage, with appropriate pathways
for each individual to safeguard them, our staff, and other
patients and service users.

'l& achieve this we will ensure high standards of
infection prevention and control measures across
primary care and community settings aligned with the
specific pathways for COVID “protected” and COVID *“risk-
managed” patients: supporting GPs and community services
wit digital access, PPE, re-design of estate and teams to
meet these requirements and manage associated risks.

We acknowledge that these measures will put additional
pressure on our capacity in this period. As such, it is
critical that we fully engage patients and communities in
managing expectations and demand; and deliver on the
supporting transformation and integration aspects of our plan.

P-----------------------

COVID protected

'---------------

Self screening for

booked activity Virtual triage

Virtual
intervention

Face to face
in CP Zone
in GP
Practice or
PCN CP
estate

Urgent care
pathway

Pro-active management through PCN level
virtual

P-----------------------'

COVID risk-managed

Virtual triage

Face to face
in CRM
Practice
Zone or

Community /
Mental

Health
Teams

Face to face
in Escalated
Care Clinic

Virtual
intervention

Urgent care
pathway

20

The North West London
health and care partnership



5. Planning for recovery and second wave:
Support to Shielded Patients (1/3)

Our borough model for shielded patients and their carers is one that upholds patient safety and infection control measures at the forefront, promotes
proactive management of health and care needs and supports the mental health and wellbeing of our shielding population and their carers.

The core components of the model are:

* Proactive care planning and management of health needs: Overseen by long-term conditions “homes” in each of our PCNs, all shielded patients will be
assigned a case manager to coordinate their care needs and have a care plan in place for how their needs will be managed. This includes care planning and case
management for shielded patients; ensuring appropriate CMCs are completed and care is coordinated. Where face-to-face contact is needed, the case
management approach will ensure all needs can be addressed in one appointment.

* Health and social care needs will be managed virtually by default, with the rapid deployment of new technologies to support remote monitoring and
home visits made for key monitoring and diagnostics such as phlebotomy and INR monitoring.

w

© Where all virtual means have been exhausted and face to face contact is required, the case manager will ensure that all health and social care needs

can be addressed in a single consultation by drawing on the full MDT and providing these services in a COVID-protected only site to reduce insorfar as possible

future infection risks.

* An integrated approach with local council and voluntary and community sector partners, with welfare support coordinated with Harrow Council
including social care and a focus on the frail and elderly in particular.

* Provision of dementia care in care homes and in people’s own homes — including post diagnosis support for patients and carers. A telemonitoring pilot is
currently underway with Harrow Council (Mysense and Ethel), with the intention to proceed to full implementation post-completion. Integrated health and care
services will also provide support through the virtual ward and the provision of VCSE social prescribers working with our partners in Harrow Community Action.

The North West London
health and care partnership
21



5. Planning for recovery and second wave:
Support to Shielded Patients (2/3)

We recognise that the most appropriate person to help support and co-ordinated the care of shielded patients will vary from person to person, and in some
cases will be the individual themselves. We will focus on supporting GPs to make first contact whenever appropriate and to undertake a full consultation
virtually, and to act as an enabler to request other teams attend where follow-up is required.

Urgent care primary care & non COVID urgent pathway: All urgent primary care needs will be met with a home visit from the registered GP Practice or a home visit
from the community rapid response team; equipped with full PPE to maintain infection control. Where a patient needs to attend urgent care services on a face to face
basis, their shielded status will be recorded in their care plan, and on entry to the urgent care service, they will be moved to a robust isolation zone from point of entry.

Mental health and well being: The mental health and well being needs of our shielded patients will be overseen by the mental health and wellbeing “home” in each
PCN. These hubs will be the central coordinating points for social prescribing link workers and volunteers in each PCN area. There are also three transformed CNWL
Primary and Community Mental Health Hubs wrapped around the 5 Harrow PCNs.

The Social Prescribing link workers will be the conduit for shielded patients through to Harrow Action and their network for third sector providers, ensuring

O that shielded patients are able to seamlessly access the support that they need. The Harrow volunteering service will be coordinated at PCN level, via the GoodSAM

App to the following services (1) check in and chat (2) patient transport (3) community response (shopping and medication collection) and (4) NHS transport. They will
also be the route through to Help Harrow for food where needed.

Proactive support, virtually through our mental health and wellbeing hub, will be central for this group. The mental health and wellbeing hub will establish an
integrated response with CNWL services for additional NHS services, aligned with further support options such as “check in and chat” function launched on 4th May for
patients across CNWL who have been advised to shield and other vulnerable patients that are self-isolating.

Clinical Directors across WLT and CNWL are working together to align approaches around NWL memory services which are not be able to operate in the
same way as pre-COVID-19 due to the risks inherent in face-to-face appointments with older vulnerable individuals. This includes:

- Model staffing numbers required to open services to all new referrals
- Develop aremote working policy to conduct remote cognitive assessments either by video / teleconsultation; and re-open groups.

We are working together to manage the changes required operationally, so that the services can re-open to routine referrals on 1st July 2020.

The North West London
health and care partnership



5. Planning for recovery and second wave:
Support to Shielded Patients (3/3)

Our Mental Health and Community “Virtual Offer” now includes:
Mental Health

= All patients under the Community Mental Health Hubs and Older Adult / Memory service who are shielding / isolating due to Covid-19 have been
contacted by a member of the team to provide support and advice.

= All shielded patients are being offered the opportunity of a face-to-face appointment / consultation via Zoom or telephone consultation should they
prefer. They are supported in their decision.

= All shielded patients in Adult / Older Adult Mental Health have been provided with a named worker (care navigator or support worker) who keeps in regular
contact and is able to arrange food deliveries and provide self-help materials.

I-E Patients are discussed virtually at the daily virtual MDT if there are any concerns.
Community Services

« Technology is in place for virtual patient consultations for example in areas such as diabetes and cardiology.
« We are now moving to video conferencing for classes such as Pulmonary Rehabilitation.

» As required, shielded patients will be seen as a home visit.

* Where there is athe need for a patient to attend a clinic for example to equipment requirements these will be at start of the day to avoid un-necessary contacts.

The North West London
health and care partnership
23



5. Planning for recovery and second wave:
Support to Care Homes

Supporting our care homes will involve a co-ordinated response linking the work of our PCNs with borough-wide co-ordination and assistance.

PCN MDT

* A named clinical lead per home to ensure a co-ordinated
Single Point of Access (SPA) for homes.

* Twice weekly reviews of patients virtual where possible but
face to face where clinically required.

* Proactive support including a range of primary and community
disciplines for example regular health checks, podiatry, dental,
continence advice.

Medicines optimisation and re-use of medication.
Out of hours access to GP support.
* Advanced care plans offered to all residents.

A4y

Central Co-ordination

e Support for borough acute discharge.
e Central co-ordination of Harrow Care Home testing and results.

e Co-ordinated use of ICBs for residents required to stay in isolation for 14
days following discharge from hospital.

* Link with the PCN LTC Model and admissions avoidance.

Borough Response (LA and NHS)

An integrated approach between the Local Authority and the CCG to ensure that
care homes have an on-going programme of training and education e.g. PPE,
dementia care and challenging behaviour.

Accessing national funding to support gaps in infection control and workforce.
Support for capacity planning, quality and safety concerns, and safeguarding.
Linking with neighbouring boroughs to ensure coverage and medical support for
cross-border residents and transition to re-registration.

Healthcare training and seminars at the quarterly Care Home Managers’ Forum.
The Integrated Care Homes Group currently meeting week-daily in response to
Covid-19 will continue to meet regularly to plan recovery and deliver integrated
models of care to care home staff and residents.

Support for care homes as independent / private businesses to form a
collaborative network for sharing information and responding collectively to the needs
of the care home population and staff around training and development and quality
improvement.

Daily COVID Care Home calls between LA, CCG, local public health and community
providers to manage evolving care home outbreaks and respond as an ICP.

24

Webinars for care homes and carers.
The North West London
health and care partnership




6. Proactive Planned Care
Primary Care Networks

For pro-active planned care, our PCNs will continue to work to provide a coordinated and proactive approach to long term condition management. Five long term
condition “virtual homes” will be established in Harrow, one for each of our PCNSs, coordinating support to people with long term conditions on behalf of their registered GP.

The purpose and functions of the long-term condition virtual homes will be:

* Providing single points of contact and coordination within each PCN for
pro-active long term condition care, particularly Practice QOF requirements.

* Innovating with, and deploying, available technology to support remote
monitoring and self-management of patients with long term conditions.

» Use of apps and online services will be provided for services such as falls
prevention that were previously delivered in face to face class settings.

(ﬁ?emote classes for falls and rehab services harnessing online platforms to
make help and support accessible as part of community recovery plans.

» Decision support tools will be made available to patients to use in their
own homes.

* We will coordinate a borough-wide deployment of telemonitoring devices
to support patients in managing their conditions.

* Delivering a personalised, case management approach working in
collaboration with system partners, to plan and coordinate care needs,
minimising face to face contacts and where contact is needed, that all patient
needs can be met in a single consultation.

» Shared approaches to health checks and immunisation to support uptake.

Using appropriate estate within the PCN to deliver services in COVID
protected “cold sites” for:

* Pro-active and preventative services (such as flu immunisations).

» Out of hospital care (community cardiac clinics, audiology services,
physiotherapy etc.).

Coordinating key monitoring and diagnostic services for shielded patients in
the PCN area (phlebotomy, INR etc.).

Coordinating across the PCN self-management and expert patient
programmes. There will be the inclusion of the Expert Patient as a dedicated team
member within each locality model, working along side care co-ordinators.

Revised launch date for Harrow transformation community mental health hub,
factoring in learning from Covid-19 response e.g. 7 day working; virtual offer.

Psychological support to frontline staff as part of NWL STP approach.

CYPMH working with local partners to implement the Thrive model with early
identification of concerns with children and upskilling partners including schools,
local authority, voluntary sector and parents to ensure a comprehensive support
network skilled and able to support individual needs.

25

The North West London
health and care partnership




6. Proactive Planned Care
Proposed Model of Care

The following summarises our proposed model of care for supporting patients to access and professionals to deliver proactive care in a way which is
integrated around the needs of individuals and our communities:

» Triage-led model delivered via digital as far as clinically possible
i . i » Access to same day consultation for all
T”age led reactive care » Face to face settings determined by blue/amber/green/shielded status to ensure safe care
» Health need resolved within minimum time and with minimum settings
* Rapid access to acute specialist advice to reduce
e 8-8, 7 days a week

» Focus on prevention and proactive care
. » Timely identification of conditions
Team-based proaCtlve » Use of population health data to prioritise care and improve outcomes
» Care plan-led holistic physical and mental health care
» Care delivered on a team basis
« Specialist input and management of disease accessible in the community

* Responsive, co-ordinated delivery of proactive care
Team-based care in the « Maximise use of the multi-agency team and care planning to deliver person-centred care
home « Care plan at the centre of care delivery
* Minimise individual and episodic contacts with services
» Use of telemonitoring and equipment to support prioritisation of clinical review and decision-making

« Proactive monitoring, holistic physical and mental health care, specialist input and management of disease
Shielded care » Proactive co-developed care plan in place that supports self-care and wellbeing

* Minimise face to face contact with health and care professionals, working as a team to support the patient
« Identification of shielded group via SCR to maximise safe delivery of urgent/unplanned care

The North West London
o health and care partnership



6. Proactive Planned Care
Long-Term-Condition Management

Analysis of Harrow’s population health data has highlighted the importance of integrated approaches to tackling diabetes, respiratory conditions and child
asthma as part of our recovery plan. However, we also recognise that the Covid-19 outbreak has also created new pressures and demands. As such, we will:

» Ensure early identification and proactive management of the broader health impacts of Covid-19 for those who are now or will be in the future recovering in the
community. Our GPs are creating a new Practice-based risk register for those patients who were hospitalised with Covid-19 infections, particularly those who received
Intensive Therapy Support, to allow close monitoring and to identify and manage the full range of post-Covid physical and psychological complications

e Identifying where resource pressures are likely to occur including reviewing the capacity of existing respiratory teams and the impact as we re-establish broader
community services, such as podiatry, where we are already experiencing a rapid pick-up in demand.

* How we re-assure individuals in Harrow living with one or more long term conditions around the availability and safety of the services upon which they rely.

Diabetes Respiratory Child Asthma

5 Re-establishing the roll out of the REWIND » Each practice to review its respiratory * Practices to ensure their Asthma Registers
programme, identifying Diabetes Clinical disease registers to ensure those patients are updated following the COVID outbreak.
Champions at a Practice level to work alongside tested positive for COVID 19, and admitted for to « Care plans to be in place for all children
the Specialist Diabetes GP and nursing hospital as a result, are included. diagnosed with asthma, and who are receiving
Community teams. * Care Planning and Case Management of regular medication.

* Identifying those patients within diabetes patients with COPD, post-COVID airway « Any child admitted to hospital with asthma
plus at least one other cardiovascular or damage, or chronic respiratory illness or arespiratory condition will be reviewed by
respiratory condition and ensure both care undertaken at three- to six-monthly intervals, their GP within 48 hours of discharge, with
planning and case reviews are in place at three- depending on the severity of the condition. care plans updated accordingly. Post admission
monthly intervals.  Patients on home-based oxygen therapy reviews to be undertaken regularly by the

should have their case reviewed monthly by practice teams.
community respiratory teams.

The North West London
health and care partnership
27



6. Proactive Planned Care

Advice and guidance, palliative care, integrated discharge

In addition to the development of long term conditions “virtual homes”, borough-wide leadership will be provided to develop proactive planned care in the

following areas:

Advice and guidance

We will implement a staged roll out of IT-based
Advice and Guidance system for Primary Care
with an initial focus on top 5 specialities; MSK,
Gynaecology, Dermatology, Cardiology,
Gastroenterology. Further specialities will come on
stream as processes are embedded and assured.

Harough the wider PCN partnership
c(?rganisations clinical expertise will be
deployed to undertake a thorough re-evaluation
of the needs of those patients on outpatient service
waiting list for six months or longer. This expertise
can also be used as part of a PCN-based Advice &
Guidance service as well as localised specialist
clinics.

Development of PCN-based outpatient
speciality services such as dermatology and
cardiology.

Palliative care services

We will take forward the learning from COVID
crisis on palliative care services by developing a
seamless integrated palliative care model between
acute, community and primary care.

We will define and secure the role of hospice
services in the Palliative Care system as one
which is leading system integration.

Palliative care and End of Life funding streams
will be aligned to create single, merged budget
across the system. This will be supported by the
creation of a Palliative Care Board with PCN
representation to determine budget spend and
system development.

Integrated discharge

Integrated discharge will be maintained and
further developed by the Integrated Discharge
Hub at LNWUHT.

The scope of the hub will be expanded to include
elective and non elective patient discharges and
non acute-based bedded services will be included
in the discharge hub’s remit; facilitating discharge
of all patients.

The discharge hub will be aligned with PCN
level long term condition “homes”, as well as
our Whole Systems Integrated Care service. This
will support the tracking of patients from primary
care, through acute services and back to
community.

Defined non elective pathways will be in place
with anticipated LOS for common conditions.

28

The North West London
health and care partnership




6. Proactive Planned Care
Integrated Primary and Community Mental Health (1/2)

We will launch our integrated primary and community mental health model aligned to PCNs, incorporating learning from Covid-19 and building on gains
made during caseload reviews as part of our emergency response, whilst delivering on the mental health commitments of the Long term Plan. This will
incorporate our experiences of 7 day working and development of our “virtual” offer, learning from staff and patient feedback during the Covid-19 crisis, ensuring
accessibility to those who are shielding or C19+ in future

mi@- PI"DpOSEd dEIiUEW model Central and North West London [1\7/153

‘l" ' MHS Foundation Trust
B f o=} )
. Integrated o
- Primary 5
s Co::.lut:lrty s g The Hub
Network
Health HUB (1]
= L c (o c £ L
| ') = ) 8 Daily triage
)] £ .
~ I E ﬂ m ; Inpatient unit meeting ‘ closed
- Z : — ==
~ . = Integrated o = | E o
- P::::r\r Community o w ] — — - Tzl AL + Al tasks actioned 0 Case closed
Network Mental m p = s A rEfE"__’Ils * Senior team meeting .
Health HUB (¥;] =] i.e. SPA, perinatal, EIS . - Outside
= e m & Owersight of all
@ @ wn W Btc the Hub
= O‘ m - H = resource availability
' = a < :
i L m B
. Integrated Z E =
s Primary e C |
Care | . 2 < w
Mental
=Network | caith HuB 3 ; m DAILY MDT
I w C E Expart assessment) hedicines Social care Community | Psychological | supported self-
I m v=) 9 consultation management | intervention | engagement therapy management
= = e
= )
= I Integratl?d S ples
= rare Co':lm::llt\r ‘e shared W i Preparing for
Network e m Physical i il imi i i end of intervention
Health HUB w 5 responsibility = )
Netw : ) heatth with for patients e
= Tl ) mental health e discharge
i

The North West London

. health and care partnership



6. Proactive Planned Care
Integrated Primary and Community Mental Health (2/2)

Mental Health Support Teams (MHSTS)

Mental Health Support Teams (MHSTs) will provide early intervention on some mental health and emotional wellbeing issues, such as mild to moderate
anxiety, as well as helping staff within a school or college setting to provide a ‘whole school approach’ to mental health and wellbeing.

» Harrow has submitted an expression of interest in implementing mental health support teams in 2020-21 (Wave 3).
» The vision is to deliver innovative support for vulnerable children and young people across Harrow.
» Our focus is on a place-based approach that targets the entire community and aims to address issues that exist at the neighbourhood level.

« The MHSTs build on the strong local collaboration between the Harrow CCG, Harrow Council, Public Health, the Young Harrow Foundation and local charities
including Mind in Harrow, Barnardo’s and the local CAMHS provider (CNWL).

o'% ‘eams will be led by CNWL, who are currently providing child wellbeing practitioners in Harrow Schools.

The North West London
health and care partnership

30



7. Integrated Community Based Urgent Care
Our approach
Our integrated community-based urgent care model (reactive pathway) will combine our borough and PCN-level response. It will operate on “Talk before you

walk” principles, with a virtual first online triage by the registered GP or 111 service with support for self-care provided where this is clinically appropriate; and will
involve a fundamental redesign of Urgent Care services in order to meet the system requirements post Covid-19. The core components will be:

 Enhanced access to Primary Care to reduce reliance on Urgent Treatment « Enhancing Same Day Emergency Care (SDEC) pathways to cover
Centre capacity. community-based intervention — referral to acute only where complex

« Embedding the use of Virtual Appointments wherever appropriate, diagnostics or Consultant examination is needed.
ensuring equality of access to vulnerable groups such as disabled residents, * Virtual SDEC chair or bed in patients home or place of residence using
homeless people. telemonitoring and community rapid response service.

« Enhance and promote the effectiveness of NHS 111 services and align  Discharge Hub able to take ownership of patients in Emergency
to GP Access; with 50% of GP Access Centre appointments given to NHS Department working on the premise that all patients can be discharged until

@ 111. proven otherwise.

* Reduce capacity for Walk in and Urgent Treatment Centres — move to * Extend the functionality of the Advice and Guidance systems to include
appointment-only functions where possible. Urgent Care. Make better use of Physician of the Day, Surgeon of the Day,

+ Re-examine the Acute Hospital Front Door, and non ambulance services; and "Consultant” of the Day model to deploy Advice and Guidance and
including our requirements post-Covid-19. reduce referrals.

« Establish GP triage function for Harrow, supporting NHS 111 access. « Enhanced, integrated pathways for palliative care building on the

. Maintain the “Virtual First and Foremost” approach. Single, virtual triage experience of Covid-19 to-date, and incorporating feedback from frontline
model based at the GP Access Centres or PCN based. staff, carers and relatives.

* Re-designed Mental Health Urgent Care offer, meeting Covid-19 recovery
principles and local needs as well as delivering against the Long Term Plan
objectives around enhancing community-based MH crisis care and
alternatives to A&E / admission.

The North West London
health and care partnership
31



7. Integrated Community Based Urgent Care
Multi-disciplinary working

Escalation of LTCs, MDTs, and integrated admission avoidance
including social care

In delivering integrated, community-based urgent care, each PCN will be
supported by our whole systems integrated care service.

» At the heart of the service will be an MDT, including community nursing,
mental health and social care building on principles and practice of joint
working established both before and during the Covid-19 outbreak.

* This will provide integrated admissions avoidance for complex long term

o conditions and frail patients.

e The team will bring together the MDT around each Primary Care
Network to support GPs in out-of-hospital care management.

GP with

special

interest

* The service is consultant-led as part of a borough-wide service with the
MDT aligned to each PCN.

* Rapid response services will be integrated within the MDT, supporting
urgent care needs and working to support patients staying in their own
homes.

Whole Systems Integrated Care
Multi-disciplinary Team

ndn
Egn

GP Practice

GP Practice

Specialist
support
(palliative care,

Primary Care Network

GP Practice GP Practice

. =’r Physiol
occupational
therapy

geriatrics,
psvchiatry )

ndn
Egs

GP Practice

GP Practice

? Care co-

| ) ordination

JL

Pharmmacy

I"l
Enhanced

practice
nursing

£

The North West London
health and care partnership



7. Integrated Community Based Urgent Care
Mental Health

We will deliver our Mental Health Urgent Care Service redesign
embodying our recovery principles, responding to local complexities and . COMMUNITY
enhancing the community based crisis offer (including alternatives to A&E COVE

FIRST HOME
and admissions). As part of our recovery plan we will develop the NWL model Mental health crisis haven, RESPONSE TREATMENT
evenings 365 days

P
Mon-cinical orisia alternative

2417 2477

to ensure all required functions are in place and accessible in Harrow,

including learning from Covid-19, with the Cove running a virtual offer at -
present to enable access for those requiring support.
The AMHPs .

Cove
e
(0]
H

AMHPs

] ! p
! o
] 1

Hillingdon A 74

'___ Harrow
|
{FR N :
Hillingdon S crisis support & for external
Liaison partners (incl. for s136)

Central Flow Hub for all bed
requests, bed allocation &
MHEAC oversight

ﬁ—

Rapid & coni o Freg visits for 23 weeks to

Mental Health 1 t0 2hey, crward igrposting ..ﬁﬁmh dl-o:mnl‘l:’c;hhpwm:of

Emergency
Centre

THERAPEUTIC WARDS @ :,

Wards working to

co-produced care plans, Fenwbech  Trestmert

in an environment conducive
=0 m )
achievement of expected

discharge dates.
xlw- hdihu-!

AMHPs

RESPONSE TO NEED PATHWAYS
® Complex Emotional Needs (PD)

® Substance Abuse

* Accommodation/Welfare

Single Pom‘t
of Acces

The North West London
o health and care partnership



8. How we will support implementation
Supporting the wellbeing of our staff

During this period there have been increased concerns, uncertainty and sadly deaths amongst our staff members.

We will support staff to manage their wellbeing by helping staff with approaches, changes and understanding of how to manage what is within or beyond our control.

IAPT Service: available to staff in Harrow

A staff offer, tailored around the COVID situation;

A trained counselling team, experienced in working in bereavement counselling;

Support for post traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) for those frontline professionals experiencing trauma daily;
Support for anxiety and depression, including anxiety caused by loneliness;

Strategies to deal with isolation and uncertainty, and how to lift the mood.

Sel
o¢_=|fHeIp

Silver Cloud is an online provider offering guidance or packages that staff can work through in their own way (with a specific Covid-19 support package).

NHS Our People offers support for the health and care workforce including nurses and other frontline staff who need support with their mental health during the
Covid-19 pandemic.

Good Thinking offers a Covid-19 specific response to Londoners feeling anxious, stressed or struggling with other mental health concerns in response to the
pandemic.

Headspace offers a science-backed app in mindfulness and meditation, providing unique tools and resources to help reduce stress, build resilience, and aid better
sleep. The offer is free access to all NHS staff with an NHS email address until 31 December, active now.

Throughout this process we will take every opportunity to address parity of esteem across the care settings, such as the many carers working across the care
home and home care sector in Harrow, including co-ordination and engagement through Harrow’s Social Care Portal: a dedicated app for the adult social care
workforce to support staff through the coronavirus pandemic, it acts as a single one-stop shop providing the latest guidance and advice including learning resources,
discounts, and resources to support mental health and wellbeing.

The North West London
health and care partnership
34


https://people.nhs.uk/
https://www.good-thinking.uk/coronavirus/

8. How we will support implementation
Developing integrated training and education

There is a commitment across Harrow to building on the joint learning and sharing of know-how which have underpinned our response to Covid-19.

Formal and informal networks have both played a key part in this: including regular joint system meetings, rapid cascading through instant messaging services,
shared communications and wide-reaching virtual GP forums. These have been supported through well-attended virtual learning sessions, organised around the need to
ensure convenience and accessibility for all relevant staff.

This rapid learning has translated directly into existing and new service delivery and we believe there is a significant opportunity to extend this in the recovery period
to promote cross-organisational and multi-professional joint training as part of the “new normal”.

The ICE Project set up by the CEPN / Training Hub, resourced by and in

partnership with the ICP, has scoped the current training and education landscape in A

Harrow for frailty, LPOL, dementia and care homes and produced recommendations Paﬂen_t_s_..

&5 0ss three tiers: e B A A careHOmeS

e Tier 1. Those that require general awareness. WSIC '\',;|L.ntarv5‘?fftf’_'_ -E%"'Wecar 'ntegrat

» Tier 2: Those who encounter people living with frailty, dementia or approaching end B Actl_t_?“‘f? I .Mentam?a_'_t_“__ ‘ . y & Carg oy
of life through their work but who would seek support from others for complex " .Pﬂrimarvcaf?____ | T|er 3 “Cat.(,
management or decision-making. — Tier 2 = Odg,

e
e

» Tier 3: Health, social care and other professionals with a high degree of autonomy,
able to provide care in complex situations and who may also lead services for care
delivery.

Education and training are key enablers of doing things differently and will be a

core part of supporting our shared recovery in Harrow.
The North West London
health and care partnership
35



8. How we will support implementation
Supporting our Primary Care Networks

Our PCNs are central to the delivery of this plan for Harrow. Ensuring that the right capability and capacity is in place is critical, and will focus in the following areas:

Use of population health data: Population health data will be provided on a monthly basis, by Harrow CCG and in collaboration with Harrow Public Health team. This
will enable PCNs to direct resources appropriately and take a data driven approach to service transformation.

Quality improvement: Coming from a strong foundation of collaboration for quality improvement, as demonstrated through the successful ERM approach in 2019/20
which saw demonstrable improvement in management of non-elective referrals and A&E attendances, PCNs have been accelerating their collaboration through the
Covid-19 period. The establishment of the “home” approach in each PCN, providing leadership and coordination functions for mental health, care homes, long term
conditions and child health builds on these strengths, bringing together clinicians to raise quality, share approaches and agree best practice models of care.

Clinical leadership across and within the PCNs: PCN CDs have played the central leadership role within their PCNs in ensuring primary care resilience through the
Covid-19 pandemic. They have established cohorting plans for each of these areas, and review daily SITREPs from their Practices. Through the SITREP data they

utave been pro-actively providing support and guidance in terms of work flow, demand management, clinical support and workforce matters. Twice weekly leadership

meetings between the CCG and PCN CDs have enabled this clinical leadership to thrive across PCNs and provide robust information exchange and joint leadership in
the development of the new care models. This leadership role will continue to build as PCN clinical directors lead the development of integrated services within their
PCNs, with General Practice at the heart and wider MDTs formed in a population health approach.

Team development: Through the transitional period of implementing the out of hospital recovery plan, team development is essential to bring our primary and
community care teams on the journey and support the integration of local teams supporting defined populations within PCNs. Our approach to team development will
build on an MDT model to develop working relationships that will be central to our overall approach to organisational development in the context of integrated care.

Flexible workforce and new roles: PCNs will increasingly look to the capabilities and capacity of their total workforce, rather than focusing at a practice level. The
development of PCN hubs will align skill sets across the PCN.

Use of our estates: Using our estates in different ways to minimise infect risks and create Covid-protected areas for a shielded patients will mean that we align the local

workforce to patient need and to where services can be delivered safely in the future.
The North West London
health and care partnership



8. How we will support implementation
Developing Harrow Integrated Care Partnership

We will continue to develop integrated working across Harrow through the Harrow Health & Care Executive and Harrow Joint Management Board.

» Building effective, fully operationalised ICP will require us progress and activity across a range of areas simultaneously. This includes reconciling the challenge
of managing the current, day-to-day reality with re-imagining that reality, recovering services in ways which support our integration agenda.

It also requires a system-wide response: A system is built on the interactions of its parts. All parts are inter-dependent and the system needs all parts to work well
together. As such, it cannot be about one part of the system “taking over” the others. It is about building on our alliance of commissioners, providers, and the
communities they serve, starting each and every time with how best to support the long-term health and wellbeing of the people of Harrow.

 We have developed and agreed a clear framework to understand and progress the next steps we need to take, across all parts of our system, in support of
our short, medium and longer term goals:

ol
(6]

Leadership, Finance and Governance: The ICP represents a significant challenge to traditional organisational and statutory boundaries of responsibility and it
requires significant strength and depth of leadership to work together for the benefit of the system. We will continue to develop our joint governance structures
and processes on empowering the right people making the right decisions at the right points. The financial pressures within Harrow are particularly severe and
growing, and for the ICP to be a success, financial structures and decision-making will need to be similarly aligned to support the objectives of this plan.

Culture and Behaviours: The development of an ICP cannot be achieved by simply changing system structures and processes, but requires people to continue
to come together around a shared vision and shared outcomes. This means building deep levels of trust and understanding, enabling staff and patients to
navigate through the complexity of our current systems and come up with new ways of working, as has been reflected in our Covid-19 response.

Organisational Structures and Management: It is very unlikely that any ICP will take the form of a traditional organisation, and certainly not in the foreseeable
future. The ICP will require a pragmatic set of structures and processes to operate effectively, ones which priorities and incentivise collaboration.

Integrated Design, Planning and Delivery: Sitting across all of these areas, is the need for an integrated capability to co-produce change in the Harrow system,
and to see future planning through to the effective delivery of shared, priority outcomes; including management of individual and collective risks on behalf of the

partner organisations.
The North West London
health and care partnership



8. How we will support implementation
Our key enablers

Many of the critical enablers of this plan remain the same as in the pre-Covid period. Some, such as our digital capabilities, have been developing at pace. Our
experience is that there will be a number of other key steps to enabling further transformation of services, infrastructure and outcomes, at pace, including:

1.

3.

Nominated leads from across the system ensuring we maximise reach and impact: individual, named SROs for each area of the Harrow plan, drawn from the
organisations and individuals that make up the partnership, but each empowered to operate on behalf of the system as a whole.

Agreeing and implementing effective, governance, decision-making and funding agreements: co-ordination through the Harrow Health & Care Executive
supported by and supporting the work of the Harrow Joint Management Board and newly reconstituted Clinical Leadership Board, recognising the key role that clinical
leadership has played in Harrow throughout our response to-date; and phased implementation, together with a shared approach to managing required financial
resources and any associated service pressures.

Using Population Health Management data to target our effects effectively: including the current work being led by CLCH with primary care partners to prioritise

g and co-ordinate support to high-risk grounds.

4.

Developing our shared approach to risk management: capturing the key risks facing us individually and collectively, in relation to both day-to-day operations and
delivery of our updated plans, and managing these jointly — building on the work, support and relationships which have been developed as we have jointly responded to
Covid-19.

Co-ordinating support to our communities through our PCNs and VCSE partners: investment in primary care and multi-disciplinary working to support improved
mental and physical health and wellbeing. Working together, our five PCN Clinical Directors will continue to enable innovation across the networks, including realising
the vision of virtual “homes” to support key groups within our population.

Working in partnership with our communities: including proactively securing feedback on recent experiences and our proposed plans, and co-producing future
solutions through active engagement of the population of Harrow in understanding and shaping how we will respond to the challenges of the coming months, with our
practices playing a core role in engaging individuals and communities alongside established channels including those of Harrow Council.

The North West London
health and care partnership



8. How we will support implementation
Our immediate priorities

e Confirm and communicate latest borough testing and Track & Trace plans.

» Confirm Infection Prevention and Control arrangements in place across all care settings.

* Implement Covid-19 Lessons Learnt in consultation with staff and patients / service users.

» Identify areas of increased demand (incl. impact and dependencies) and immediate system-wide measures to manage flow, aligned to NWL sector recovery plans.
* Develop our shared System Risk Log and resource plans.

e Ongoing review of support for Shielded Residents.

» Accelerate programmes of support for learning disabilities, prevention, self-care and social prescribing.

» Development of MDT care models and virtual “homes” at PCN level covering:

Long Term Conditions
Mental Health and Wellbeing
Children and Young People

LS
|

Care Homes

Frailty

* Reconstitute the Harrow Clinical Leadership Board to reflect our evolving health and care priorities.

* Refresh Terms of Reference for Harrow JMB and HHaCE in line with the priorities of our Recovery Plan.

» Develop our overall communications and engagement plan working across the partnership to ensure key messages reach those in need.

» Establish our approach to integrated education and training building on the ICE work completed in Harrow before the Covid-19 outbreak.

The North West London
health and care partnership
39



8. How we will support implementation
Developing Harrow Integrated Care Partnership: our next 100 days

June July August

Review and align existing
organisational plans and
shared objectives for the ICP

Demonstrating further progress towards improving
collaboration and outcomes across all settings of
care in Harrow

Translating planning into
delivery mechanisms

Integrated
Planning &
Delivery

Embed governance, leadership Operationalise Ensure system leadership and governance is effectively
and financial arrangements to . preed models supporting implementation whilst developing models
support implementation & to enable enhanced pooling of resources

Leadership,
Finance &
Governance

Delivery of high-priority interventions to accelerate ICP implementation with
accompanying broader communications and engagement
across all staffand communities in Harrow

Establish baseline organisational
development and training plans

Culture &
Behaviours

Undertake detailed analysis to enable further mobilisation of
resources in delivery of integration throughout 2020/21 and into
2021/22, aligned with development of PCNs and other partners.

Establish organisations and teams to support
immediate implementation priorities

Structures &
Management

©
c
.2
+—
©
o2
c
©
(%)
—
o

The North West London
" health and care partnership



	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	Minutes

	6 Appointment of (non-voting) Advisers to the Sub-Committee 2020/21
	10 Covid 19 - Recovery Plan for the Harrow , Health and Care Partnership
	NW London Out of Hospital Recovery Plan: Harrow
	Contents
	1.  Introduction�Harrow Out of Hospital Recovery Plan
	2.  How we work�Harrow Integrated Care Partnership 
	2.  How we work�Shared principles (1/2)
	2.  How we work�Shared principles (2/2)
	3.  Managing Population Health & Tackling Inequalities�The Harrow context
	Slide Number 8
	3.  Managing Population Health & Tackling Inequalities�Our Strategy
	3.  Managing Population Health & Tackling Inequalities�ICP Priorities and Success Measures
	3.  Managing Population Health & Tackling Inequalities�Addressing mental and physical health inequalities 
	Slide Number 12
	Slide Number 13
	4.  Working together �What’s worked well and learning from our Covid19 response (1/2)�
	4.  Working together �What’s worked well and learning from our Covid19 response (2/2)�
	4.  Working together �Key developments since March 2020
	5.  Planning for recovery and second wave:�Managing safety, risk, capacity and flow
	5.  Planning for recovery and second wave:�Managing Safety and Risk (1/3) 
	5.  Planning for recovery and second wave:�Managing Safety and Risk (2/3) 
	5.  Planning for recovery and second wave:�Managing Safety and Risk (3/3) 
	Slide Number 21
	Slide Number 22
	Slide Number 23
	5.  Planning for recovery and second wave:�Support to Care Homes
	6.  Proactive Planned Care �Primary Care Networks
	6.  Proactive Planned Care �Proposed Model of Care
	6.  Proactive Planned Care�Long-Term-Condition Management
	6.  Proactive Planned Care�Advice and guidance, palliative care, integrated discharge
	Slide Number 29
	Slide Number 30
	Slide Number 31
	Slide Number 32
	Slide Number 33
	8.  How we will support implementation�Supporting the wellbeing of our staff
	8.  How we will support implementation�Developing integrated training and education
	8.  How we will support implementation�Supporting our Primary Care Networks
	8.  How we will support implementation�Developing Harrow Integrated Care Partnership
	8.  How we will support implementation�Our key enablers
	8.  How we will support implementation�Our immediate priorities
	8.  How we will support implementation�Developing Harrow Integrated Care Partnership: our next 100 days


